
Case 3:O4-cv~OO689~MRP~VBKDocument 788 F - ‘~- / ~O7 Page 1 of 9

F!LED.WESTEHN DWISION

1 CLERK. U.S. D~sTRIcTP~1!RT

1 [
cEETRM.. L1tS1~C1CF CAJFOIRNIA

2

Priority .

Send
Enter
Closed —iS-5/JS-6—6 JS-2/JS-3—

Scan OnIy.~~-.7

8 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

9 CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

10

11 ICU MEDICAL, INC., CASE NO. SA CV 04-00689MRP (VBKx)

12 Plaintiff, ORDER DETERMINING ATTORNEY
FEES AND COSTS DUE TO ALARIS

13 v, PURSUANT TO THE COURT’S APRIL
16, 2007FEES ORDER

14 ALARIS MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.,

15 Defendant.

16

17

18 AND RELATED COUNTERCLAIMS

19

20

21 I.

22 INTRODUCTION

23 On April 16, 2007,this Courtgrantedin partDefendantAlaris MedicalSystems,Inc.’s

24 (“Alaris”) motionfor attorneyfees,costsandexpensesunder35 U.S.C.§ 285 andits motion for

25 sanctionsunderFederalRuleofCivil Procedure11 againstPlaintiff ICU Medical,Inc. (“ICU”).

26 (SeeApr. 16, 2007OrderGrantingin PartDefendantAlaris’ Motion for Fees,Costsand

27 ExpensesUnder35 U.S.C. § 285 andGrantingDefendantAlaris’ Motion for SanctionsPursuant

28 to Fed.R. Civ. P. 11 (the“FeesOrder”).) Specifically,theCourtgrantedAlaris attorneyfees

1—



CasE 8:04-cv~00689~MRP~VBKDocument 788 FUed 06/28/2007 Page 2 of 9

1 and costsit incurredasaresultofthenecessityto litigate: 1) ICU’s requestfor a temporary~
LU

2 restrainingorder andpreliminaryinjunction (the “TRO/PI”); 2) ICU’s assertionof the“spik~”

3 claims;and3) ICU’s constructionoftheterm“spike” atclaim construction(collectively, thà“fee
C. j

4 awardcategories”). (FeesOrderat 16.) Alaris thensubmittedan accountingfor $5,501,791.10

5 in feesand $164,721.19in costsit believedit wasdueundertheCourt’sFeesOrder. ICU

6 submittedan oppositionthat claimedthetotal awardshouldbe no morethan$1,825,000to

7 $2,055,000.OnJune7,2007, theCourtheardoral argumentto determinethespecific amountof

8 feesandcostsdueto Alaris andtook thematterundersubmission.

9 The Court finds thatAlaris is due$4,587,622.44in attorneyfeesand $164,721.19in

10 costsfor the reasonssetforth below. TheseamountsareawardedexclusivelyunderSection285.

11 No monetarysanctionsareawardedunderRule 11.

12

13 IL

14 DISCUSSION

15 The factual and procedural background of this casehasbeendocumentedin theCpurt’s

16 prior ordersandneednot berepeatedhere.’ Thepartiescurrentlydisagreeon theproper

17 accountingofattorneyfeesandcostsawardedbytheCourt’s FeesOrder. This disagreement

18 raisesseveraldiscretequestionsfor thelodestaranalysisandtheassignmentofliability for the

19 fees,namely:1) what constitutesa “reasonable”numberofhoursbilled; 2) what is a

20

21
‘The factualandproceduralbackgroundcanbe foundin the following documents:

22 1) July 30, 2004OrderDenyingPlaintiffsMotion for aPreliminaryInjunctionandFindingsof Factand
Conclusionsof Law (“TRO/PI Denial Findings/Conclusions”);

23 2) July 17, 2006ClaimConstructionOrder(the “CC Order”);
3) July 17, 2006PartialSummaryJudgmentOrderfor Noninfringementof“Spike” ClaimsandAugust25,

24 2006Findingsof FactNot GenuinelyContestedandConclusionsof Law (collectively,“Spike PSJ
Findings/Conclusions”); . .

25 4) Jan.22, 2007OrderGrantingDefendantAlaris’ Motion for SummaryJudgmentof Invalidity ofPlaintiff
ICU’s “Spikeless”Claimsunder35 U.S.C.§ 112 (the “SpikelessSJ Order”); .

26 5) Feb. 21, 2007 rindingsof FactNotGenuinelyContestedandConclusionsofLaw in Supportof thèCourt’s
1/22/2007 OrderGrantingAlaris’ Motion for SummaryJudgmentof Invalidity of “Spikeless”Claimsunde

27 . 35 U.S.C. § 112,INI I & 2 (“SpikelS SJFindings/Conclusions”);and
6) Apr. 16,2007 OrderGrantingin PartDefendantAlaris’ Motion for Fees,CostsandExpensesUnder35

28 U.S.C. § 285andGrantingDefendantAlaris’ Motion for SanctionsPursuantto Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 (the
“FeesOrder”). - . .. . -
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I “reasonable”billing ratefor thosehours;3) is Alaris entitled to feesfor its work on thequqs~ion
lU

2 offees;4) what costsaredueto Alaris; 5) whois liable for theCourt’sawardof sanctionsiji~ider
3 Rule 11 wherethat awardis “subsumed”by theawardunderSection285;and6)is Alaris C.~

C’ i

4 entitledto pre-andpost-judgmentintereston theaward?

5

6 A. LegalStandards

7 Courtsdeterminetheamountof feesawardedunder35 U.S.C. § 285usingthe“lodestar”

8 analysis. Hensleyv. Eckerhart,461 U.S. 424,433 (1983);Mathisv. Spears,857 F.2d749,754

9 (Fed.Cir. 1988). Underthis approach,theCourt first determinesa lodestarfigure by multiplyin

10 thenumberof hoursreasonablyspenton thelitigationby areasonablehourly rate. Hensley,461

11 U.S. at433. Factorsthat shouldbe consideredin fashioningthereasonablenumberof hours

12 expendedandthereasonablehourlyrateofthelodestarinclude: 1) thenovelty andcomplexityo

13 theissues;2) thespecialskill andexperienceofcounsel;3) thequalityofrepresentation;4) the

14 resultsobtained;and5) thecontingentnatureofthefeeagreement.SeeKerr v. ScreenExtras

15 Guild, Inc., 526 F.2d67, 70 (9thCit. 1975) (establishing“reasonable”lodestarcalculation

16 factors);Moralesv. City ofSanRafael,96 F.3d359,363-64(9th Cir. 1996) (explainingwhich

17 Kerr factorsarerelevantto, or “subsumedby,” theinitial lodestardetermination).2The

18 reasonablehourlyrateis alsousuallydeterminedby referenceto therateschargedby lawyersin

19 thesamelegal communitywith comparableskills andreputations.Blum v. Stenson,465 U.S.

20 886,895 (1984). This presumptivelyvalid lodestarfigure maythenbe increasedor decreasedin

21 “rare” and“exceptional”casesbasedon an evaluationoftheKerr factorsnot alreadysubsumed

22 in theinitial lodestarcalculation,if thoseadjustmentsaresupportedby “specific evidence”and

23 “detailedfindings” bythetrial court. SeePennsylvaniav. Delaware Valley Citizens’Councilfor

24

25
2 The twelveoriginal Kerr factorsbearingon the reasonablenessof eitherthe hoursor rateof thelodestarcalculation

26 are: 1) the timeandlaborrequired;2) thenoveltyanddifficulty of thequestionsinvolved; 3) the skill requisiteto
performthe legalserviceproperly;4) thepreclusionof otheremploymentby theattorneydueto acceptanceof the

27 case;5) thecustomaryfee;6) whetherthe fee is fixed orcontingent;7) time limitations imposedby theclientor the
circumstances;8) theamountinvolvedandtheresultsobtained;9) theexperience,reputation,andability of the

28 attorneys;10) the“undesirability”of thecase;11) the natureandlengthof theprofessionalrelationshipwith the
client; and12) awardsin similar cases.Kerr, 526F.2dat70.
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I CleanAir, 478 U.S. 546,565 (1986)(establishingthe“strongpresumption”of thevaliditypf
LU

2 feesbasedonalodestarcalculationthatareto be adjustedonly in “rare” and “exceptional”~

3 cases);Van Gerwenv. Guar. Mw. L?fe C’o,, 214F.3d 1041, 1045-47(9th Cir. 2000)(discussing

4 theKerr factorsthatshouldbe consideredwhendecidingwhetherto adjustthelodestarfigure

5 upwardordownward).

6

7 B. ReasonableHours

8 First, theCourtmustdeterminewhetherAlaris’ requestednumberofhoursis greater

9 than,lessthanor thesamenumberof hoursthat reasonablycompetentcounselwouldhave

10 billed. If therequestednumberof hoursis greaterthanthenumberofhoursreasonably

11 competentcounselwouldhavebilled, thentheCourtshouldreducetherequestednumberof

12 hoursaccordingly. SeeHensley,461 U.S. at434 (describingthecourt’s duty to eliminatehours

13 thatare“excessive,redundant,orotherwiseunnecessary”).TheCourt’sFeesOrderawarded

14 feesonly for: 1) theTRO/PI;2) ICU’s assertionofthe“spike” claims;and3) ICU’s construction

15 oftheterm“spike” atclaim construction, Thepartiesdisagreeon how to accuratelyallocate

16 hoursbilled for thesethreefeeawardcategories.

17 The Courtnotesat theoutsetthatlitigating this high-stakespatentinfringementeasewas

18 alaborioustask for bothparties. It involved threeyearsofcomplexlitigationof57 claimsin

19 four patentsthroughnumerousproceedings,all ofwhich werehard-foughtby bothparties’

20 counsel.However,astheFeesOrderdetailed,it was ICU’s improperlitigation tactics,

21 particularlythosefor whichtheCourtawardedfeesunderSection285 andRule 11, that

22 increasedtheunnecessaryburdenthis litigationplacedon both parties.

23 The Court’sview ofthecasebeliesthatofICU’s experton fees,who submittedareport

24 on feeamountandallocationthatincorrectlycharacterizedthelitigation asbeinglessarduous

25 andmorestraightforwardthantherecordshows. Her statisticalanalysis,thoughattractivefor its

26 simplicity, examinestheproceedingsandhourallocationsin amannerthat is at timestoo rigid

27 andelsewheremisleadingin light ofwhat actually transpiredduringthelitigation. Evenleaving

28 asidetheissueofherqualificationsasan expertableto makesuchan analysis,theCourt finds it

-4-
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1 provideslittle helpin its feedeterminationtask.
+ LU

2 With thisin mind, theCourt is persuadedthat Alaris’ accountingofhour~for its woik on

3 thethreefeeawardcategoriesfrom June2004 to March2007 is a reasonableone. Alaris’ ‘5
4 accountingindicatesit adequatelyexcludedhoursthatdid not directly fall within thefee award

5 categoriesor that it otherwisemadeconservativereductionsin thenumberofhourswhereverthe

6 allocationwasambiguous.DespiteICU’s criticism of Alaris’ billing summariesasbeing“block

7 billing” that precludedtheaccurateallocationofhoursto relevantmatterswithin eachbilling

8 block, thereis little to suggestthis causedameahingfulmisallocationof hoursor materjally

9 inflatedAlaris’ overall hoursamountby untowardinstancesof “roundingup” of hours. Further,

10 thisbilling practiceis commonly:usedandICU providesno reasonto suspectit hasresultedin a

11 unreasonableamountof iotal hoursallocatedto thethreefeeawardcategories,which touchon

12 the“bulk” of matterslitigated in this case. Conversely,applyinganyparticularreductionto the

13 bill to compensatefor roundingthat mayor maynot havehadanetupwardeffecton Alafis’

14 billed hourswould be undulyspeculativeandarbitraryin this particularcase. Similarly, ICU’s

15 criticism that Alaris overstaffedthecasein a“partner-heavy”manner,allocatingtoo manyhours

16 to moreexpensive“partners,”asopposedto lessexpensive“associates”or “paralegals,”is

17 unconvincing. Given thecomplexityofthe issues,theskill andexperienceof Alaris’ counsel,

18 thequalityoftheirrepresentationandtheresultstheyobtained,theCourthasno reasonto

19 questionAlaris’ staffingchoicesorbillable-hourallocationsamongstaff. Accordingly,Alaris

20 hasprovideda reasonablesummaryofhoursbilled for its litigation oftheTRO/PI, ICU’s -

21 assertionof the“spike” claimsandICU’s constructionoftheterm “spike.”

22

23 C. ReasonableRate

24 Second,theCourt must identify andapplya reasonablehourlyrate. Casesdescribingthe

25 lodestarcalculationprovidelittle helpful guidancein determiningan appropriatehourlyrate.

26 Courtsaredirectedto comparetherequestedrateswith the“prevailingmarketrate,” which isthe

27 rate“prevailing in thecommunityfor similar servicesof lawyersof reasonablycomparableskill,

28 experience,andreputation.” B/urn, 465 U.S. at 895 n.11. Manycourtsapplyingthis standard

-5-
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1 concludethataparticularattorney’sbilling rateis relevant,but notdispositive,evidenceofa
LU + +

2 reasonablehourly rate. See,e.g.,GuamSocietyofObstetriciansand Gynecologistsv, Ada~100

3 F.3d691,702(9thCir. 1996); UnitedSteelworkersofArnericav. PhelpsDodgeCorp.,89frk2d

4 403,407 (9th Cir. 1990);butseeMathur v. Bd. ofTrusteesofSouthernIllinois Univ., 317 F.3d

5 738,743 (7th Cir. 2003)(holding that “[o]nly if an attorneyis unableto provideevidenceofher

6 actualbilling ratesshoulda district courtlook to otherevidence,includingratessimilar

7 experiencedattorneysin thecommunitychargepayingclientsfor similarwork”).

8 In this particularcase,Alaris’ counsel’sactualbilling ratesprovidea reasonablebasisfor

9 thelodestaranalysis. This rateis somewhatlowerthantherateAlaris proposes,which it

10 calculatedbasedon a“comparables”analysisof rateschargedby Los Angeles-basedpatent

11 attorneysof similarskill in similar matters. However,in theCourt’s view, Alaris’ actually

12 chargedratessatisfyBlum‘s call for a“prevailingmarketrate.” B/urn, 465 U.S. at895. Alaris

13 wouldnot beprejudicedby beingawardedfeesat its actuallychargedrates,becauseit will still

14 recoverwhat it actuallyspent. Further,Alaris providesno convincingreasonwhy thehigher

15 “Los Angelesrates”arenecessaryto compensateit for its counsel’sefforts,especiallygiventhat

16 thepurposeof Section285 is to reimbursetheinjuredparty,not to awardmorethantheparty

17 wasrequiredto pay. Mathis,857 F.2dat 753. This is not to saythat Alaris’ counselwould

18 neverbe entitledto a higherfcc basedon a “marketrate” analysis,but its actuallychargedfeesir~

19 this caserepresentareasonableandfair ratethat is within theCourt’sdiscretionto award.

20 Accordingly, theCourtusesAlaris’ counsel’sactualbilling ratesto calculatethelodestar.

21

22 D. Feeson Fees

23 Alaris requestsapro rataportion,or 66%, of its hoursbilled for its work on theissueof

24 feesunderSection285,andit requests100%offeesfor its work on theRule II motion. This

25 representsAlaris’ bestestimateof theportionof the“feeson fees”work that relatesto thethree

26 feeawardcategoriesspecifiedby theCourt. It alsoapparentlyonly constitutes85%ofthehours

27 actuallyworkedin its feerequest,excludingover 550ofhoursbilled andapproximately2,000

28 hoursworkedbut notbilled. This pro rataadjustmentandaccounting,comprising66%ofthe
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feesfor work on theSection285 motionand 100%ofthefeesfor work on theRule 11 motipn, is
u~

areasonableoneandis acceptedby theCourt,

~s

E. LodestarCalculationsandAttorneyFees

TheCourtcalculatesthelodestar,basedon Alaris’ suggestedallocationof hoursandits

actual averagebilling rates,asfollows (see[Corrected]Decl. ofScottP. McBride, Esq. in

SupportofAlaris’s Memorandumin SupportofAlaris’s Accountingfor FeesandCostsunder35

U.S.C. § 285 andSanctionsPursuantto Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 ¶IJ 49, 54, 55, 80, 88, 90 andExs. 1-3,

40):
2004 2005 2006 2007 Total

PartnerHours 2,367.20 3,479.35 3,191.42 472.60 9,510.57
ActualAverageRate $330.71 $370.83 $37100 $370.63

LodestarProduct $782,856.71 $1,290,247.36 $1,196,782.50 $175,159.74 $3,445,046.31

AssociateHours 1,273.72 2,259.65 772.11 79.10 4,384.58
ActualAverageRate $200.71 $209.16 $219.00 $220.00
LodestarProduct $255,648.34 $472,628.39 S169,092.09 $17,402.00 $914,770.83

Law ClerkHours 413.35 69.90 122.00 111.05 716.30
ActualAverageRate $155.00 $160.00 $165.00 $175.00
LodestarProduct $64,069.25 $11,184.00 $20,130.00 $19,433.75 $114,817.00

ParalegalHours 401.75 435.12 14.96 0.00 851.83
ActualAverageRate $130.00 $135.00 $135.00 $0.00
LodestarProduct $52,227.50 $58,741.20 $2,019.60 $0.00 $112,988.30

Total $1,154,801.80 $1,832,800.95 $1,388,024.19 $211,995.49 $4,587,622.44

Thus, Alaris is entitledto $4,587,622.44in attorneyfeesfor its work on thethreefee

awardcategories.This representsareasonablelodestarcalculationfor Alaris’ work on these

categories,andit constitutesareasonablepro rataamountofAlaris’ total expenditureof

$11,000,000in attorneyfeesand$2,000,000in costsoverall in this case.

F. Costs

TheCourt finds thatAlaris hasadequatelysupportedits requestfor $164,721.19in non-

taxablecostsassociatedwith thethreefeeawardcategories,to which ICU makesno valid and

specificobjection.

-7-
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I G. Liability for Rule 11 Sanctions -

v-i

2 The partiesdisagreeon theeffectoftheCourt’s awardofsanctionsunderRule11 s~hose

3 amountwas“subsumed”by thedollar amountawardedunderSection285. TheCourtawatded

4 thefeesin this mannerbecausesomeoftheconductby ICU’s attorneysthat gaveriseto thefee

5 awardunderSection285,specificallythefrivolousconstructionandassertionofthe“~pike”

6 claimsin theamendedcomplaint,concurrentlyjustified sanctionsunderRule11. Thus,the

7 Section285award“subsumed”thedollar amountof anyRule 11 sanctionsbecause,in the

8 Court’s view, theSection285 awardreasonablycompensatedAlaris for theoffendingconduct

9 underRule 11 andprovidedsufficient deterrenceof thatconductfor thefuture. SeeFed. R. Civ.

10 Pro. l1(e)(1)-(2).

11 ICU arguesthat theCourt’s levyofsanctionsunderRuleIi did not specifywhetherthe

12 sanctionswereawardedagainstICU asaparty, ICU’s attorneysor both. Alaris broughtits Rule

13 11 motionunderboth Rule 1 1(b)(2)andRule 1 1(b)(3), therebytargetingICU and its counsel,

14 particularlycounselwho signedtheamendedcomplaintthattriggeredthesanctions.The Fees

IS Orderconcludedthat lCtJ andits counselengagedin conductthat violatedboth subdivisionsof

16 Rule 11. (SeeFeesOrderat 19-26.) The Court found that ICU ‘s frivolousconstructionof the

17 term“spike,” which drovethebaselessinfringementclaimsin theamendedcomplaint,violated

18 Rule 11(b)(2). Further,ICU’s energetic,butwholly unreasonablepre-filing inquiry generated

19 frivolous claim constructionsandbaselessinfringementclaimsthat did not have,andwerenever

20 likely to have,evidentiarysupport,whichviolatedRule 11(b)(3). TheApril 2007FeesOrder

21 concludeda Rule 11 inquiry, clearlybroughtunderbothsubdivisions,thatbeganin September

22 2005,if not earlier,thusICU’s counselhadadequatenoticeoftheir ownpotentialRule 11

23 liability, asis requiredundersubdivision11(c). While theCourt is awarethat “monetary

24 sanctionsmaynotbe awardedagainstarepresentedpartyfor aviolation of RuleIi (b)(2),” the

25 sameconduct,or at leastinextricably relatedconduct,justified sanctionsunderboth 11(b)(2) and

26 1 1(b)(3). Fed.R. Civ. P. 1 1(c)(2)(A). .. -

27 Becauseofthesefindings,andtheoverlapin offendingconducttheydemonstrate,ICU

28 andits counselarejointly andseverallyliable for anyRule 11 monetarysanctionsthatarebased

-8- . +
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I on Alaris’ havingto defendagainstthe“spike” claimsin theamendedcomplaint. However~Jhe
1+1

2 CourtexpresslygrantedfeesandcostsunderSection285,andnot Rule 11, andintendedthat
cC

3 primary liability for thedollar amountrestwith ICU, andnot its counsel.At this stage,the’Court

4 hassufficientlyadmonishedICU andits counselfor any improperconductunderRule 11. The

5 CourthasalsocompensatedAlaris for its efforts in defendingagainstthis conductun4rSection

6 285. To reiterateits priorholdingin theFeesOrderandto resolveanyresidualambiguityin the

7 allocationof theamountofattorneyfeesandcosts,theCourtawardsno monetarysanctionsfor

8 ICU’s andits counsel’sviolationsof Rule 11.

9

10 H. Interest

I I Due primarily to thefact thattheCourtdid not awardfeesandcostson theentirecase,

12 theCourtdoesnot awardAlaris prejudgmentinterest. However,theCourtawardsAlaris post-

13 judgmentintereston thefeesandcostsawardedby this Ord&iind theFeesOrderthat shall run

14 from thedateof thefinal entryofjudgmentin thiscase,aspiovidedby 28 U.S.C. § 1961. That

15 final judgmenthasnot yetbeenentered,so no post-judgm’entinterestis yetdue.

16

17 IlL

18 CONCLUSION

19 In accordancewith theCourt’sFeesOrder,Alaris’ is awarded$4,587,622.74in attorney

20 feesand$164,721.19in costs. Theentire awardis grantedunderSection285,andno monetary

21 sanctionsareawardedunderRule11. Alaris will beentitled to post-judgmentinterestthatshall

22 run from thedateofthe final entryofjudgmentin this case.

23

24 IT IS SOORDERED.

26 DATED9~C4tt2Q7o07
MarianaR. Pfaclzer

UnitedStatesDistrict Judge
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